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    For Remi Malfroy, Dave Hughes, Jonas Nesic,


    Bruce Groves and Bill Ford.


    I wish you were all here to argue with me about this.




    

       

    




    Nothing is ever completely wasted. The apparently futile events of history . . . such as the Paris Commune, or the Spanish Civil War, or the French Resistance, are not failed experiments. The good seeds will grow – later, no doubt, much later – but first they must be sown.




    Jean Cassou




    A word to young historians – when we read your studies about our underground world, they appear a bit cold. Without wishing to be pretentious, you should not be afraid of dipping your pens in blood: behind each set of initials you describe with such academic precision, there are comrades who died.




    Pascal Copeau
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          The division of France after June 1940. The northern regions of the Occupied Zone were under the direct military control of the Nazis. From 1941 the Atlantic coastal regions became a ‘forbidden zone’, which non-residents could visit only with a special pass. From November 1942 to autumn 1943 the Italians occupied the southeastern corner of France
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    Introduction




    The next time you visit Paris, imagine the public buildings draped with swastika flags, the streets crowded with the grey-green uniforms of the German army, the humiliation of Jews wearing yellow stars on their clothes, threatened with deportation and death. That was the reality of the Occupation of France during the Second World War.




    Then look at the walls. Look at the bullet-holes spattered over the Préfecture de Police opposite Notre-Dame cathedral, or on the École des Mines on the Boulevard Saint-Michel. Look at the plaques on anonymous buildings, commemorating the forgotten men and women who died during the Occupation. Look at the names of the Métro stations – ‘Guy Moquet’, ‘Jacques Bonsergent’, ‘Corentin Cariou’ or ‘Charles Michel’ – which pay homage to victims of Nazi repression. These are all traces of the Resistance, of the price paid to drive the Nazis out of France.




    Similar signs can be seen throughout the country. Many towns have their own Resistance museum, telling the story of how the region was liberated, of the people who fought and died to free their country. There are memorials at the side of country roads, marking the location of secret landing strips for tiny aircraft flying in from Britain. There are families who still tell stories of how parents and grandparents made their contribution to the Resistance, and who still mourn loved ones crushed by the fascist juggernaut. This book is full of the personal stories of some of those hundreds of thousands of men and women who risked everything to fight the Nazis.




    In the 1960s, when I grew up, the Resistance was everywhere – from schoolboy comics to television series, from true-life accounts to films. It saturated British culture, a constant reference in a world that was still dominated by the war, which had finished only twenty years earlier. Not only did we accept without question the heroism and self-sacrifice of the men and women of the Resistance and of those Britons who helped them, we were awed by their bravery, even slightly jealous of the fact that these people knew how they would behave under terrible pressure.




    Times have changed. In France and elsewhere, the heroic view of the Resistance has faded. Few people know exactly what the Resistance did, beyond a general sense that they blew up trains and shot Nazis, although in reality these were relatively rare events. Even in France, where the Resistance remains an ever-present theme in popular culture, most ordinary people no longer know the detail of this story. The number of surviving résistants has inevitably dwindled (virtually none of those mentioned in this book are still alive), while the two main political forces that claimed the heritage of the Resistance – Gaullism and Communism – have been transformed utterly, largely losing their connection with this decisive period in French history. The names of most of the Resistance leaders have long since slipped from public awareness. There are no more French postage stamps showing the portraits of Resistance heroes.




    These changes are not only due to the passage of time, but also to a general shift in attitudes. We are less deferential than in the past, age and experience command less respect, while tales of bravery and self-sacrifice are more likely to provoke a cynical smile than awed regard. Popular views of the war years in France have also been affected by the widespread suspicion that the true reality of the Occupation was not the heroic acts of the Resistance, but rather the behaviour of a population that apparently accepted the orders of the new fascist masters.




    There are some good reasons for this feeling. Following the crushing defeat at the hands of the Nazis in June 1940, the French military, supported by the political and business leaders, sought to work with the Nazis. A new government was set up with the task of negotiating an Armistice that would accept the Occupation. Based in the small spa town of Vichy, the new government initially enjoyed widespread support, and many people believed that its leader, Marshal Pétain, was secretly preparing to turn the tables on the Nazis. Nothing could be further from the truth. It was Pétain himself who coined the term that came to symbolize the politics of Vichy: collaboration. Although Vichy technically ruled over the whole country, the Germans occupied the north – and, after November 1942, the whole country. In the regions where the Nazis had troops, they had control. From the outset, Vichy’s independence was severely limited, and after the Nazi invasion of the south nearly two-and-a-half years later it was non-existent. Pétain and his Vichy colleagues endorsed every important Nazi decision relating to France, from the systematic exploitation and pillaging of the country, through the arbitrary conscription of hundreds of thousands of young men to work in Germany, to the deportation of tens of thousands of Jews, the vast majority of whom would never return.




    After an initial ‘honeymoon’ period, important sections of the French population began to realize that although Pétain had provided peace, in the sense that no pitched battles were being fought on French soil, a terrible price had been paid. This price had many facets: plummeting living standards (malnutrition began to spread, infantile mortality soared, mass unemployment and low wages became rife); the loss of the most elementary democratic rights (letters and phone calls were systematically intercepted and their contents transmitted to the paranoid state apparatus); the misery and distress produced by the division of the country and the brutal Nazi-inspired laws. But above all, the price paid by Vichy was moral and political. Vichy was a willing accomplice in the Holocaust, enthusiastically applying laws that slowly transformed the country into an anti-Semitic police state, viciously persecuting all those who opposed it.




    Nevertheless, for most of the war, the vast majority of the French did little or nothing to oppose Vichy and the Occupation. They may have hated the division and exploitation of their country, they may have been shocked and appalled by the deportation of the Jews, they may have looked with approval on the acts of the Resistance, but in general all this had little practical consequence. Less than two per cent of the population – at most 500,000 people – were involved in the Resistance in one way or another. Up to 100,000 résistants are thought to have died during the war – executed, killed in combat or dying in the camps – an indication of the dangers that were faced by this determined minority.




    Many historians now rightly argue that resistance took a wide variety of forms. As well as direct action against the Nazis and their Vichy allies, people wore red, white and blue (the colours of the French flag), listened to the BBC (which was illegal), or offered aid and succour to the persecuted Jewish population. However, at the time ‘resistance’ was used above all to describe organized actions against the Nazis and Vichy. And until the final days of the Occupation, most of the French population watched and waited. Only a tiny minority felt they had to oppose the Occupation and, as many of them put it, ‘do something’. Even before the Armistice had been signed, the first signs of resistance were seen. A few individuals made heroic but ultimately futile gestures of physical opposition to the Nazis, often risking imprisonment or even death. Others chose a more literary approach – in Brive, south of Limoges, Edmond Michelet produced a leaflet consisting merely of six quotations from the French writer and philosopher Charles Péguy, calling for the fighting to continue. It did not have the desired effect. After the Occupation began, and Pétain’s regime started its sinister rule in the south, a series of small Resistance organizations sprang up, producing amateurish publications. In most cases they were smashed by the Nazis in a matter of months. Not one of the scores of Resistance organizations was created by the man who came to represent them – General Charles de Gaulle. Indeed, de Gaulle appeared to have little time for the Resistance, which in turn was profoundly suspicious of the French general, while recognizing his importance as a symbol of opposition to Vichy and the Nazis.




    The reason for this clash between the Resistance and what became known as the ‘Free French’ around de Gaulle was that the two groups had fundamentally different objectives. A tiny fraction of the French army leadership – basically, de Gaulle and a handful of others – together with a rag-bag of adventurers and right-wing patriots, had travelled to Britain to continue the struggle. Their intention was to create an exile army that would participate in the Allied war effort to drive out the Nazis, thereby preserving the honour of France, and setting up an alternative government and state apparatus that could take over from the discredited Vichy regime and regain control of the French Empire.




    The outlook of the Resistance was rather different. It also wanted to drive the Nazis out of France, but it was never a disciplined and coherent single organization. Composed of disparate groups, it encompassed a wide range of political views, from the far right to the far left. Eventually, even some of its more right-wing leaders changed their opinions, and began to see the Resistance as a revolutionary army that could transform French society in a socialist direction. This inevitably led to more conflicts with de Gaulle, who sought to control all armed action in France, and appeared dismissive of the strength and sacrifice of the Resistance.




    Created in France, the Resistance grew in stature partly as a result of its links with the Free French and also with the British secret services, in particular the Special Operations Executive (SOE). Military supplies and money were parachuted into France, providing a vital lifeline for the Resistance. Nevertheless, throughout the war the Allies remained ambivalent about both the Resistance and the Free French. London and Washington were uncertain about the true influence of the Resistance, although they accepted that it could be useful in providing intelligence and military support after D-Day. These suspicions and doubts were even greater with regard to the Free French. President Roosevelt loathed de Gaulle; he rightly felt that the French leader’s prickly independence would threaten Allied plans to occupy France and dismember her Empire after the war was over. Although Churchill was more sympathetic to de Gaulle, he followed the US President’s lead. As a result of these tensions, the story of the Resistance – a tale of heroism and sacrifice against terrible odds – was played out against a backdrop of conflict and mutual suspicion. Underlying all these disputes was the fundamental question of what kind of France would emerge from the Occupation.




    This book deals primarily with the Resistance, but de Gaulle looms large, simply because within a few weeks of the fall of France, he was transformed from an unknown, low-ranking General, into the most notable representative of all those who opposed the Occupation. That transformation came about through the power of radio. De Gaulle’s regular BBC broadcasts from London – which were occasionally suspended during some of his bitterest spats with the Allies – provided ordinary French people with a sign that all was not lost, and gave the bolder among them the confidence to stand against the Nazi tide. The scattered forces of the Resistance eventually rallied to de Gaulle precisely because of his renown within France, and because of his links with the British. This in turn reinforced his power and influence.




    The frictions between the Allies, the Free French and the Resistance became stronger in the run-up to D-Day. London and Washington considered that liberation was the task of the Allied troops, who would then occupy France under the authority of an Allied Military Government that would run the country for as long as necessary. Important sections of the Resistance, on the other hand, wanted a mass uprising of the French population to help drive out the Nazis and produce major changes in French society – a revolution. De Gaulle, meanwhile, sought to use the action of both the Allies and the Resistance to consolidate his own influence and to realize his vision of a re-born France under his command. It is one of history’s sharper ironies that in this triangular tension it was de Gaulle who eventually triumphed, even though he owed virtually everything to the two rival forces. But this was not an inevitable outcome – history could have written a different ending. This book also explores what might have happened, and the path the Resistance could have forged for France.




    The use of strongly patriotic language makes many of the declarations of the Resistance and of the Free French seem hopelessly anachronistic. Chauvinist appeals to ‘the glory of eternal France’ are unlikely to strike many chords today. This is partly due to the political and sociological changes that have occurred over the last sixty-five years, which have weakened the power of patriotism, in particular among young Europeans. It is also because, to put it simply, there is no war. At the time the war and the Occupation changed everything. In wars, ordinary people are allowed to kill other people – indeed, they are expected to do so. As de Gaulle put it with characteristic bluntness in a broadcast in 1942:




    

      

        

          It is completely normal and completely justified that Germans should be killed by Frenchmen and women. If the Germans did not wish to be killed by our hands, they should have stayed at home and not waged war on us. Sooner or later, they are all destined to be killed, either by us or by our allies.


        


      


    




    The starting point of the Resistance, and of de Gaulle, was that all French people, irrespective of their class or status, had a common national interest in driving the Nazis out of the country. In the 1914–18 war, both sides used appeals to the ‘national interest’ to justify a horrendous slaughter which was the result of conflicting commercial and political interests, none of which had any real significance for the vast majority of those caught up in the war. The situation after June 1940 was different. France had been invaded, carved up and exploited; a country that had its own globe-spanning Empire was in its turn being transformed into a colony. Those now in charge were Nazis who destroyed all democratic rights (with the help of the Vichy government), and proceeded to first repress and then exterminate those they considered to be sub-humans – Jews, Communists, homosexuals, gypsies and others – and all those who opposed the Occupation. Everyone in France who was not a supporter of the Vichy regime did indeed have a common interest in driving out the Nazis. Their very survival was at stake. For hundreds of thousands of ordinary people, standing by was not an option. They had to do something. They had to resist. This book is theirs.




    So why did I have to write it? Telling the powerful personal stories of the résistants, describing their successes and failures, focusing on their courage and sacrifice, feels like a duty. By keeping their stories alive, the résistants themselves can be brought back to life in our memories. I have wanted to write this book since the mid-1980s, when I was living in Paris. One evening, I was watching TV and bumped into a documentary about the Occupation. It was like getting an electric shock: there was my adopted home city, draped in Nazi swastikas. Instantly, my vague knowledge of what happened during the war turned into something much more visceral: I felt a glimmer of the outrage, the fury and the desire to fight back that motivated so many during the war years. After the documentary was over, there was a debate between various historians and old résistants. At one point, Jacques Chaban-Delmas, a résistant who had subsequently been a right-wing Prime Minister from 1969–1972, and was not at all on my political wave length – turned to the camera and said: ‘I want to say to all the young people watching, who do not know what it was like to be in the Resistance: it was one of the greatest times to be alive.’




    That phrase, and my shock at the image of Occupied Paris, have remained with me over the years. In the pages that follow I have tried to transmit the emotions that were experienced by the members of the Resistance – the moments of joy and the times of terrible depression; the euphoria of victory, the bitterness of betrayal and the sorrow of sacrifice. There are moments that inspire, others that make you think long and hard, and there are points at which I had to stop to wipe away the tears. That is why this book had to be written, and why it has to be read.




    Manchester, January 2009
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    France Falls




    June 1940. In six short weeks, the French army – widely considered to be the most professional and powerful force in the world – had been swept aside by a lightning German offensive. France was crushed under Hitler’s iron heel. Its territory was occupied, its population was humiliated, its mood was cynical and introspective. Dramatically, and against all expectations, France had fallen.1




    The war had begun in September 1939, with the Nazi invasion of Poland. Without great enthusiasm, Britain and France declared war on Germany. But so little happened over the first seven months that it was called the ‘phoney war’. For young René Balbaud, a French-Canadian soldier with a wife and baby daughter, the beginning of the war was almost like a holiday. Shortly after the call-up, he was skinny-dipping with ninety comrades in the river Moselle, splashing and joking. Once they had dried off, they collected ripe yellow plums from the nearby orchards.2 As the autumn wore on, Balbaud spent his time decorating a local village hall for a marriage, rustling geese for the regimental pot and complaining to his diary that only two shells had been aimed at him in the space of three weeks.3 Although the winter was particularly hard and morale suffered accordingly, by the time spring came things were starting to look up again, and Balbaud was able to make the most of his leave in Paris, flirting with a young woman at the Gare de l’Est. Within a few weeks, however, Balbaud’s world, and that of the whole French population, changed in ways that no one expected.4




    Throughout the 1930s the French had been preparing for the war. At a cost of 7 billion francs, they had built the Maginot Line – a vast array of armed fortresses, linked by an underground railway, and housing tens of thousands of soldiers – along the north-eastern border with Germany. The Maginot Line discouraged any offensive and defended the vital Lorraine coalfields and steel-producing regions. The French were certain that, as in 1914, the Germans would attack through Belgium, so they positioned their crack regiments on the northern border, ready to meet the worst that the Nazis could throw at them.




    On 10 May Hitler finally launched his long-expected attack on Belgium and Holland. Nazi tank battalions surged westwards, backed by wave after wave of bomber support. Despite the vigour and the ferocity of the offensive, the French generals were confident; the Germans were doing exactly what had been predicted. But the German attack had another aspect, which the French command initially paid little attention to. In the hilly and heavily wooded Ardennes region, at the point where the Maginot Line ended, the Germans launched a massive tank attack, sending 134,000 men and 1,222 tanks weaving along the winding country roads, then crashing through the undefended countryside. In 1938 the French had carried out an exercise based on this possibility; they had calculated that it would take the Germans sixty hours to get through the mountains, and the invaders would then have to deal with the problem of crossing the river Meuse. This, thought the French, would provide enough time for them to reinforce the troops defending the crossing points around Sedan.




    The French strategists were not entirely wrong. It did indeed take the Germans sixty hours to get to the Meuse. But the French high command completely underestimated the size and density of the armoured attack through the Ardennes, and the impact of German air support. After the Allies had got wind of the Germans’ original battle plans at the beginning of the year, the Nazis had completely changed their strategy. Hitler had been swayed by the vision of General Heinz Guderian, a fifty-two-year-old Prussian who in the 1930s had argued for the large-scale use of tanks backed up by air power. Under Guderian’s plan, the attack on the Netherlands and northern Belgium was merely a feint, designed to draw the French away from the central Nazi thrust, which would take place where the French least expected it – through the Ardennes and across the Meuse.




    In terms of men and equipment, the two sides seemed evenly matched. They had around the same number of men on the Western Front (144 Allied divisions, as against 141 German divisions), and each was armed with about 2,900 tanks. But the forces were deployed in completely different ways. The Germans grouped their tanks into 10 divisions of around 270 each, while most French tanks were scattered along the line – only 960 were grouped in armoured divisions, each of around 160 tanks. This meant that when the Germans attacked, they had far more machines on the battlefield than the French. Furthermore, the German tanks were linked by two-way radios, giving them a flexibility that far outstripped the French vehicles, many of which lacked any kind of communications.




    It was in the air, however, that the Germans had a decisive advantage. Although France had as many serviceable planes as the Germans when the invasion began, these were scattered all over the empire, many of them far from the front line. As for the British, their bases were far away; to be fully operational, planes had to refuel at French or Belgian aerodromes. When it came to putting planes into the sky over north-eastern France and Belgium, the Nazis had the upper hand, with around twice as many aircraft.5 This air superiority was used by the Germans to back their armoured offensive, with the aim of weakening and demoralizing enemy ground forces even when the number of casualties inflicted from the air was relatively small. It was devastatingly effective. On 16 May René Balbaud found himself on the Belgian border, the terrified victim of an attack by Stuka dive-bombers. These two-seater, single-engine planes had first been used to support Franco’s fascists in the Spanish Civil War. With their strikingly arched wings, they looked particularly predatory, adding to their psychological impact. During an attack, the Stukas came hurtling out of the sky, the sirens under their wings screaming, terrifying people on the ground, then released their deadly payload of bombs.




    At noon on the 16th, Balbaud heard the deep roar of aeroplane engines and dived for cover. He wrote in his diary:




    

      

        

          One hundred and fifty planes! It’s staggering. The noise of the motors is already overwhelming . . . and then there is this terrible whistling that sets your nerves jangling . . . And then suddenly it’s raining bombs. Trees fall and burn, the earth bucks, stones fly, smoke and dust form a blinding cloud, while there is a choking stench of gunpowder . . . And it goes on and on! . . . Not a single French plane, not a single British plane, not a single round of anti-aircraft fire . . . Finally, they leave. We look at each other. Our uniforms are red with the red soil, damp. Few of us are injured, but our faces are drawn, exhaustion rings our eyes. Our morale is shattered.6


        


      


    




    The troops that were subjected to this relentless, terrifying attack at Sedan – it involved a thousand planes and lasted around eight hours – were some of the weakest and most poorly equipped of the whole French army. Composed almost entirely of reservists, they had been called up in September and were not young – the average age was thirty-one. Above all, they were not equipped with anti-aircraft or anti-tank weapons, nor had they been given any decent training during the phoney war. Despite valiant actions by the doomed French reservists, the Germans were able to cross the Meuse with relative ease; Rommel, commanding troops to the north, was also able to penetrate deep into French territory, even without the scale of air support that had been used near Sedan.




    As soon as the Germans broke through, the French collapse began. Rumours of German tanks being sighted miles behind French lines spread panic among the untrained and poorly armed men. This panic was fuelled by a series of major tactical mistakes by the leadership on the ground, coupled with a catastrophic lack of communication, so that neither the head nor the body of the army knew what was happening. For example, faced with the collapse of his 71st Infantry Division and a corresponding German advance, General Poncelet moved his command post away from the purpose-built, heavily defended bunker near Sedan with its dedicated telephone line. Taking his staff officers with him, he retreated to a house in the forest, which had no communication system at all.7 As a result, Poncelet had no idea what was happening at the front – or even where the front was. And when the men at the front tried to obtain orders by telephone, they got no reply. The phone rang unanswered in Poncelet’s deserted bunker. This further undermined morale: if the leaders had apparently deserted the fight, why should the rank and file stay?




    Elsewhere, resistance was more substantial. On the morning of 12 May a massive tank battle began near Hannut in central Belgium. Far from being a walkover for the Nazis, the battle showed that French armour could effectively take on the Germans. On that beautiful May morning, the 35th Panzer Regiment suddenly encountered the French along the banks of the river Petite Gette. Tank commander Ernst von Jungenfeld wrote: ‘. . . enemy tanks popped up at every corner . . . the situation grew hot, and on occasion the enemy grew so strong that he took the offensive.’ Von Jungenfeld summed up the first day’s fighting as ‘hard and bloody, many a brave Panzermann had to lay down his life for the Fatherland, many were wounded, and a large number of tanks was lost’.8




    Modern tank warfare was also accompanied by bloody episodes of close combat. As the Germans renewed their westward drive, French Lieutenant Le Bel’s tiny Hotchkiss tank, riddled with bullets and anti-tank rounds, was retreating. As it drove past a Panzer tank, apparently abandoned by the side of the road, a German soldier leaped up onto the front of the Hotchkiss, waving a hammer and took a swipe at the driver. Unable to hold on, the German fell to the ground and disappeared. Le Bel ordered the tank to stop, then clambered down. To his horror, the left track was covered with bloody human remains and tattered bits of uniform. The Hotchkiss had simply crushed the desperate and foolhardy German to a pulp.9




    The war in the air was far more dispersed, with death delivered at a distance in vast volumes of space. As reconnaissance pilot Antoine de Saint-Exupéry put it: ‘The density of aerial warfare? Specks of dust in a cathedral.’10 Nonetheless, in the cathedral of air that hung over northern France, men died every day. Saint-Exupéry’s unit contained twenty-three of the French air force’s fifty reconnaissance crews. ‘In three weeks,’ he wrote, ‘seventeen of the twenty-three had vanished. Our group had melted like a lump of wax.’11 On 10 May, when the Germans launched their offensive, the RAF had 135 bombers in France. Two days later, only seventy-two were still in service. On 14 May, when the French launched a counter-attack against the invaders, the RAF sent out seventy-one bombers to destroy bridges and disrupt the German supply lines. Only forty-one returned – one of the highest operational loss rates ever experienced by the RAF.




    In less than a week the German bridgehead in France had become ninety-five kilometres wide, representing a huge problem for the Allied armies. Nevertheless, the French strategists were not downhearted. They were convinced that the Nazis would now turn sharply south and east and attack the Maginot Line with its thousands of well-armed men. At the same time, crack French forces could be brought down from Belgium to catch the Germans from the rear. But that was not what the Nazis had in mind. Guderian’s bold plan was simply to ignore the Maginot Line, leaving its troops stuck inside their eastern bunkers, far away from the fighting. Instead he would cut France in two by continuing westwards and racing his tanks to the Channel. This would isolate the Allied forces in Belgium from their supply lines, surrounding them from the south with the Panzer forces that had come storming through the Ardennes and from the north with the divisions that had crashed through the Netherlands.




    By the time the French general staff realized what was happening, it was too late. Indeed, Guderian’s progress towards the sea was so rapid that the Germans became suspicious, and on 17 May Guderian was ordered to stop his advance. Furious, he threatened to resign unless he was allowed to continue, and his commanders relented the following day. Two days later the Germans reached the Channel at the mouth of the Somme. The French armies and troops of the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) were trapped. Arthur Koestler, watching in horror from Paris, described the German advance as ‘a narrow wedge of steel which pierced right through the body of France until it came out the other side, twisting round in the wound, enlarging the hole, crushing the country’s flesh’.12




    By 25 May the British realized that there was no possibility of breaking through the encircling German forces; nor did the French have the strength to weaken the Nazi stranglehold by counter-attacking from the south. With London’s agreement, General Gort, the commander of the 200,000-strong BEF, headed for Dunkirk, the last major Channel port not under German control. Ironically, he was able to do this only because, on 24 May, Hitler once again hesitated and halted the German advance. This three-day pause imposed by Berlin allowed the British to save an important part of their armed forces.13




    French troops were not immediately given the order to evacuate – this finally came through on 29 May. At this point, although 120,000 troops had been transported to Britain, only 6,000 of them were French. This apparent discrimination reinforced traditional anti-British sentiment among the French, even though it was a consequence of the decision by the French military leadership to keep their men on French soil.14 In the final phase of the evacuation, which ended on 4 June when the Germans broke through the French lines, thousands of British sailors and airmen died, while French soldiers sacrificed themselves in a rearguard action. As a result, a further 140,000 French and Belgian soldiers escaped to safety through Dunkirk.




    One of those French soldiers was René Balbaud. In the two weeks of fighting, his unit had been completely destroyed. The last straw came on 28 May. After retreating 250 kilometres along the Belgian frontier, the group was finally encircled by Nazi tanks, repeatedly bombed and strafed from the air. The men were hungry, tired, terrified. The commanding officer of Balbaud’s unit received the order not to hinder anyone who wanted to get to the coast. Most chose to stay and surrendered to the advancing Nazis. Balbaud and a friend decided to take their chance and trudged towards the coast, hiding from the Germans. Eventually they bumped into a group of British soldiers and were told to head for Dunkirk. After wading through miles of flooded fields, surrounded by distressed livestock, they saw, far off, endless clouds of black smoke piling high into the air. The sky above the port was swarming with German bombers, and the town was in flames.




    At the same moment another French soldier, Lieutenant Barlone, was also retreating towards Dunkirk, struggling through the thousands of French civilians fleeing the fighting. When he finally arrived at the port he saw a vision from hell:




    

      

        

          The westerly wind beats down the immense columns of grim, black smoke from the flaming oil tanks. Truly this is the suffocating breath of the last judgement. Long sheaves of bright flames shoot up from the huge burning buildings. Broken bricks and mortar, windows, paving stones dislodged by shells strew the ground. Immense open spaces stretch farther than the eye can see with only a fragment of wall standing here and there, and the carcasses of the monster cranes in the docks despairingly hold up their great black arms towards a ghastly sky, rent unceasingly by the explosions of whining shells. Squadrons of planes circle above us, dropping sticks of bombs in quick succession. The men flatten out on the ground, making use of stacks of coal or trucks, or anything, for protection.15


        


      


    




    Even then the ordeal was not over. Evacuated soldiers waded out into the sea and scrambled on to vessels of all sizes, many of them commandeered or captained by volunteers. They then had to run the gauntlet of Nazi bombardment and aerial attack, defended only by the incessant buzzing of British fighters. When the Nazis finally took Dunkirk, on 4 June, the beach was strewn with abandoned guns, uniforms and equipment. Overall, 350,000 Allied soldiers escaped, including Balbaud and Barlone.




    *




    Dunkirk was not the end of the Battle of France, but it demonstrated that the Nazis had the upper hand and that the Allies would have to show bold military and political initiative if the Germans were to be beaten back. Neither Britain nor France was in ideal shape for such a turnaround. In the weeks before the German attack, both countries had been in political turmoil – Winston Churchill replaced Neville Chamberlain at the head of the British government on the day Hitler attacked, while Paul Reynaud took over as French Prime Minister from Édouard Daladier. Neither of the new leaders had a particularly secure position. Churchill’s fellow Conservatives were deeply suspicious of him: Chamberlain’s Parliamentary Private Secretary wrote that the ‘kind of people surrounding Winston are the scum’.16 For the French (and for many in Britain), Churchill was a reckless adventurer.17 As for Reynaud, he presided over the seventeenth French government in seven years. Most of his predecessors had simply reshuffled the same tired political cards in the increasingly forlorn hope of finding a winning hand. There was little reason to believe that Reynaud would be any different, and his slogan – ‘We will win, because we are the strongest’ – rang hollow when the German offensive began.




    After Dunkirk fell on 4 June, the Nazis turned their gaze southwards and saw a French military leadership that was convinced it had lost the war. Two weeks earlier, Reynaud had sacked the French Supreme Commander of Land Forces, General Maurice Gamelin, who had been responsible for the defence strategy that had proved so useless. Reynaud had a problem, however, as there was no suitable replacement – all of the leading French generals were either directly tainted by the disaster or were out of action (one had a mental breakdown; another was killed in a car accident). His only choice was the seventy-three-year-old Maxime Weygand, who had been brought out of retirement the previous year. This career officer was stoutly anti-German, but he had somehow managed to get through over half a century of soldiering without ever once coming under fire – hardly the man to inspire French troops faced with the Nazi onslaught.18




    But if Weygand was a poor choice, Reynaud’s second appointment was calamitous. In an attempt to strengthen the government’s influence among both the population and the armed forces, Reynaud named eighty-four-year-old Marshal Philippe Pétain as Deputy Prime Minister. Although Pétain had a reputation as an inspiring commander in the First World War, he was now widely reputed to be semi-senile (he slept through many Cabinet meetings). Neither Weygand nor Pétain thought the Germans could be repulsed, and both were soon leading figures in a growing capitulationist wing within the Cabinet and the army. Far from uniting the government, the arrival of Pétain and Weygand prepared its collapse, which duly took place within a month.




    In glorious June weather – forty-four-year-old art historian Agnès Humbert noted in her diary ‘Never has Paris looked more beautiful, never has it been such a mass of flowers’19 – the German advance towards Paris continued. Despite brave defensive actions, key French positions fell like dominoes. The roads south were crowded with fleeing civilians. In the second half of April ninety per cent of the 200,000 population of Lille had left their homes, together with eighty-five per cent of the 82,000 population of Turcoing. Now the fighting began to catch up with them, so they had to move further south. An astonishing 8 million people – nearly a fifth of the total French population – are thought to have become refugees during this period, known in France as ‘the Exodus’. Antoine de Saint-Exupéry talked to some of them:




    

      

        

          ‘Where are you bound?’




          ‘Nobody knows.’




          They never knew. Nobody knew anything. They were evacuating.




          There was no way to house them. Every road was blocked. And still they were evacuating. Somewhere in the north of France a boot had scattered an anthill, and the ants were on the march.20


        


      


    




    On 3 June 300 German aircraft bombed the Citroën and Renault factories on the south-western edge of Paris, killing 254 people, including 195 civilians. On 6 June Nazi ground troops breached the French lines on their southward thrust; on the same day, at a meeting of the War Committee in Paris, Weygand sharply reproached the RAF for their lack of support in May, shouting shrilly at the British representatives. For one of the British officers present, Weygand’s attitude gave ‘the clear indication that, before the fate of the present battle was cast, it was considered lost by the Commander-in-Chief and his excuse for this was British duplicity’.21 Two days later distant artillery fire could be heard in the capital; on 9 June the Nazis took Rouen with ease. The historian Marc Bloch, who at the time was an ordinary soldier, later wrote: ‘The Germans took no account of roads. They were everywhere . . . They relied on action and on improvisation. We, on the other hand, believed in doing nothing and in behaving as we always had behaved.’22 Meanwhile, the government began to totter.




    As Paris baked in the June heat, a kind of resigned panic began to seize the capital. Eerily, on Saturday 8 June trains heading south from the Gare d’Austerlitz had no announced destination – they were simply leaving, going somewhere, anywhere. Over the next few days the stations were in continual chaos as people sought to escape the inevitable occupation, storming trains, crowding at the ticket offices, desperate for a way out. Soon the roads were equally full. But not everyone fled. Many of the cars leaving on the evening of Sunday 9 June met the traditional traffic jam on the other lane, as people returned from a day in the countryside, oblivious to the advancing danger from the north. Although the richer, western sections of Paris gradually emptied, most of the working-class inhabitants of the eastern side of the city stayed where they were. The poor had nowhere to go, and no means of getting there.23 Even the rich had difficulties – petrol shortages meant that cars were often useless, the volume of traffic made the shortest journey take hours, and when the refugees did arrive somewhere, what would they eat? One refugee wrote:




    

      

        

          All these human beings in movement were marked by lack of sleep and lack of food. We slept however we could, wherever we could. A few hours later, we were on the move again. It was impossible to feed such a column of people in towns that were already overpopulated. Could we demand more milk, more meat, than the region contained?24


        


      


    




    On Monday 10 June the government officially left Paris, heading south for the Loire Valley, where the various ministries were scattered around a series of châteaux commandeered for the purpose. Despite British urging, there was no question of using Paris as an obstacle, a way of tying up the Germans in a long and bloody fight, street by street. Pétain dismissed the idea out of hand: ‘To make Paris into a city of ruins will not affect the issue,’ he said.25 The French government preferred to leave, but where it was going, and why, was never clear. Reynaud had instructed Weygand to prepare plans for holding Brittany against the Nazis, retaining sea and air links with Britain. But despite British support, this plan came to nothing. Weygand thought it was pointless, while Reynaud simply forgot about it, caught up in a series of mood swings that punctuated his slow downfall. In his more excitable moments, Reynaud talked of the government leaving for French North Africa, or for French territories in the Americas, but no real plans were ever made.


    

    On the afternoon of 11 June Churchill and a small British delegation flew to meet the French government at Briaire in the Loire Valley. Escorted by twelve Hurricane fighters, the small twin-engine de Havilland Flamingo landed late in the afternoon, and the visitors were taken to the Château du Muguet, ‘a hideous house . . . expanded by successful business in groceries or indifferent champagne into a large monstrosity of red lobster-coloured brick, and stone the hue of unripe Camembert’.26 The château had only one telephone (accessed via a toilet), which worked only when the village operator was on duty – she finished work at 6 p.m. and took a two-hour lunch-break.27 As a result, the meeting was effectively isolated from the outside world and from the terrible events taking place where the Germans were advancing.




    Desperate to rally his allies, Churchill cranked up the rhetoric, urging the French to fight in the capital, conjuring up ‘the lurid glow of burning cities, some as beautiful as Paris, collapsing on garrisons who refused to accept defeat’.28 The French were unmoved. Weygand’s response was that the battle of Paris had already been lost and that every other French city would also fall unless the British intervened decisively. Over and again, the two governments looked at things from completely different points of view, each expressing their own national interest. For the French, the British would soon collapse under the inevitable Nazi onslaught, so they might as well throw everything they had into the Battle of France. For the British, the Battle of France was a mere prelude to the Battle of Britain and, above all, they felt that both sides should try to hold out until the USA could be persuaded to enter the war.




    This difference in outlook was strikingly expressed when Weygand again demanded that the RAF immediately put every one of its planes into the sky over France, leaving no reserve to defend Britain, proclaiming: ‘Here is the decisive point . . . this is the decisive moment.’ Churchill replied, equally forcefully: ‘This is not the decisive point, this is not the decisive moment.’29 More of the same followed when Churchill argued that a campaign of guerrilla warfare in France would delay, and could even halt, the German advance. Pétain awoke from his sleep to reject the idea out of hand: ‘It would mean the destruction of the country,’ he grunted.30




    It became clear that the French were going to sue for peace, and on 12 June Churchill returned to London armed only with a French promise to consult the British government before they came to a final decision. But within a day Churchill was summoned back to France for a meeting at which the French leader Reynaud asked whether France could be released from the three-month-old treaty which stated that neither country would enter into a separate peace.31 Churchill rejected the request, asking perceptively: ‘What is the alternative? The alternative is the destruction of France, more certain than if she fights on, for Hitler will abide by no pledges.’32 Once again, Churchill urged the French to hold out until President Roosevelt could persuade the Senate and the US public, both of which were strongly anti-interventionist, that the USA should enter the war against Hitler.




    Later that day one of the most absurd events in a series of tragicomic governmental antics took place. At a French Cabinet meeting in Cangé, near Tours, Weygand announced that the Communists had seized power in Paris, that the mob had disarmed the police and that all telephone communications with the capital had been cut. Mandel, the Minister of the Interior, calmly phoned the Prefect of Paris, and got Weygand to come and hear that his story was utter nonsense.33 Despite this public humiliation, Weygand continued unabashed and proceeded to argue that the government should have remained in Paris in order to negotiate with the Nazis, before calling for the arrest of the most junior member of the government – General Charles de Gaulle, who had been made Under-Secretary of State for National Defence and War merely a week before – for having begun to send men and material to North Africa without consultation. Like many of Weygand’s rants, this one went unchallenged and unacted on – for the moment.




    Meanwhile, Paris awaited the arrival of the Nazis. The government had declared the capital an open city – that is, a city that was ‘open’ to the invader, and which would not be defended. To add to the apocalyptic atmosphere, the sky was blotted out for hours on end, as thick black smoke from the burning oil depots at Rouen settled over the capital. As the streets emptied, the Paris-based Swiss journalist Edmond Dubois walked through one of the smartest parts of Paris and stumbled on a surreal scene:




    

      

        

          Wednesday 12 June, at 6 p.m., a herd of cows . . . wanders unhindered through the Place de l’Alma. Nobody is with them. The animals are hungry and their lowing resounds sadly along the deserted riverside roads. The odd passer-by barely bothers to glance at this surprising spectacle.34


        


      


    




    The same day, Sergeant Guy Bohn, a lawyer, was ordered to blow up the Eiffel Tower to prevent the radio transmitter from falling into enemy hands. Bohn, who had absolutely no explosives training, was horrified and had no idea how to proceed. He eventually managed to persuade his superiors that the project was doomed to failure, and he was instead sent off to the fort at Issy-les-Moulineaux, where despite his inexperience he successfully destroyed a more reasonable target – a small military transmitter.35




    Christian Pineau, who was working at the Ministry of Information, helped evacuate the ministry on 11 June, and then left with a convoy carrying personnel and key papers. But when they reached Moulins, 230 kilometres south of Paris, they realized that they had left behind them files containing names that would greatly interest the Gestapo. Together with three other volunteers, Pineau clambered into an old Citroën and drove all the way back to Paris against the flow of refugees. Having burned the papers late into the evening of 13 June, Pineau then crossed the Seine to spend the night at his empty apartment. The following morning, as the Nazis were about to enter the city, Pineau returned to the car. Only two of the three helpers turned up. The third had disappeared with the contents of the Ministry’s ample wine cellar.36




    A few days earlier, two decisive but highly secret events had taken place. First, a convoy of a dozen vehicles had left Paris for Vincennes, carrying replicas of a German Enigma coding machine. The fact that the Allies could read Nazi messages encoded by the Enigma machine was one of the biggest secrets of the war. The Poles had first cracked the Enigma code in 1933 and had given two replica machines to the French in 1939, one of which was then handed on to the British and was used at Bletchley Park to help decode Nazi messages.37 Had the Nazis captured the French machine, they would have realized that their communication system was not secure, and the shape of the war – and even its outcome – could have been very different. As it was, this machine stayed hidden in the south of France throughout the war. At around the same time, the French physicist Frédéric Joliot-Curie left Paris with France’s entire supply of ‘heavy water’ (deuterium oxide) sloshing around in jerrycans strapped to the bottom of his car. The Nazis were using heavy water as part of their nuclear weapons programme and would have been delighted to get their hands on the material that Joliot-Curie managed to get to the UK within a week.




    On 15 June the Manchester Guardian published the following report:




    

      

        

          The main German forces entered the city at noon yesterday. They came from the north-west and by the Aubervilliers Gate from the north-east. From the north-western suburbs they marched through the west end down the Champs-Elysées – tanks, armoured reconnaissance cars, anti-tank units, and motorized infantry. Machine-gun posts were set up at important points, and the wireless stations were seized. The people left in Paris watched the entry in silence, reports the Associated Press correspondent. Small groups of people still sat along the terraces and boulevards and in the cafés. Shops were boarded up. In the Place de l’Opéra stood a solitary motor-car with a big ‘for sale’ sign. The Paris police still patrolled the streets. Occasionally could be heard the drone of an unmolested plane.38


        


      


    




    What the newspapers did not report is that around a dozen suicides took place on 14 June.39 For some, the fall of Paris was the end of everything.




    *




    As the Nazis draped Paris with swastika flags, the French government left its ramshackle and dispersed headquarters among the châteaux of the Loire and headed for Bordeaux, desperate to keep a reasonable distance between itself and the advancing German troops. The final, brief scene in the rather pathetic French governmental drama lasted only a few days, as the capitulationist wing in the army and the government gradually came to dominate.




    In a final attempt to galvanize Reynaud and those who wanted to continue the fight, and desperate to keep the powerful French fleet out of the Nazis’ hands, the British proposed an immediate ‘indissoluble union of our two people and our two empires’.40 The proposal was dictated over the phone by de Gaulle, who was in London pressing the British to send more troops and aircraft. It briefly made Reynaud perk up, but the defeatists scornfully dismissed the idea as a British attempt to grab the French Empire. Pétain showed what he thought of Britain’s chances against the Germans when he asked why anyone would want to ‘fuse with a corpse’. His fellow defeatist Ybarnegaray – a pre-war fascist – was even clearer: ‘Better to be a Nazi province. At least we know what that means.’41 Reynaud abandoned the idea without even putting it to a vote. With Roosevelt not only refusing to come to the aid of France, but even forbidding the French government from making public his telegrams of support (the US President was campaigning for re-election), a crushed Reynaud resigned during the evening of 16 June. Pétain became Prime Minister and immediately contacted the Nazis to discover what the peace terms would be.




    At the same time, Weygand began to move against those who wished to carry on fighting. He had already been bugging Reynaud’s phone and had been mobilizing young recruits in the Bordeaux area in preparation for a military coup, should the government prove intransigent. His final target was de Gaulle, who had returned from London only to see the government disintegrate. De Gaulle was concerned that he might be arrested by Weygand, and was determined that the struggle against the Nazis should continue even if the government collapsed. He therefore insisted to Major-General Edward Spears, Churchill’s personal envoy, that he had to return to London. On the morning of 17 June Spears and de Gaulle left Bordeaux airport, bound for London.42 De Gaulle’s personal luggage contained only a spare pair of trousers, four clean shirts and a family photo.43




    At midday Pétain went on French radio. In his thin, metallic voice (Arthur Koestler wrote in his diary that it ‘sounded like a skeleton with a chill’44) Pétain announced: ‘It is with a heavy heart that I tell you today we must cease hostilities. The fighting must stop.’ Although no armistice had been signed, and French soldiers were still engaging German troops, the clear implication was that the French armed forces should lay down their arms. That was the conclusion drawn by the drunken soldiers encountered by André Dewavrin, a naval officer who had recently arrived back in Brest: ‘“The war is over – Pétain said so!” they shouted. “Why should we go and get killed, if the war is over? We might as well go home!”’45 Dewavrin, like many others, initially thought the broadcast was a Nazi ruse. He soon had to accept that Pétain, and the whole military establishment, had thrown in the towel. A few hours later the broadcast was repeated, with the key sentence changed to ‘we must try to cease hostilities’, but the damage was done.46 Within four days the armistice was signed – in the same railway carriage as the 1918 armistice, but with victor and vanquished reversed and with the terms imposed by the Nazis.




    The overwhelming response by French soldiers to the armistice was one of relief and acceptance. Captain Henri Frenay reported:




    

      

        

          I saw our men, who had fought so well right up to the last minute, throw down their arms, abandon their field packs and organize folk dances on the road and in forest clearings.47


        


      


    




    Jean-Pierre Levy, a reserve artillery lieutenant who fought up until the bitter end, wrote:




    

      

        

          It’s sad to say, but, alas, it’s the truth: around me there was widespread relief at the announcement of the news. Soldiers and officers were in favour of ceasing hostilities and did not hide it. Everything happened in a virtually unanimous consensus.48


        


      


    




    Some soldiers were less enthusiastic. Lieutenant Barlone, who had returned to France following his evacuation from Dunkirk, wrote in his diary:




    

      

        

          We learn by wireless that Pétain and Weygand have asked for an armistice. Several officers weep bitterly. Others remain indifferent as if struck dumb by the disaster.49


        


      


    




    The full implication of the fall of France was still unclear to many. On 18 June Arthur Koestler passed groups of refugees on the road to Périgueux in the Dordogne, seemingly unaware of what was to come. As he caustically remarked in his diary:




    

      

        

          All the way saw families camping by the roadside with cars parked off the road, on the spot where the last drop of petrol gave out. It is a sort of general stay put. All wait for armistice to be signed and ‘everything to become normal again’. They really believe life will be as it was before. Meanwhile, they eat and drink in the sunny meadows and play belotte. The apocalypse as a family picnic.50


        


      


    




    Under the terms of the armistice, the country was divided into two zones: an Occupied Zone in the north and a Non-Occupied Zone (or ‘Free Zone’) in the south. A ‘demarcation line’ – a frontier in all but name – snaked across the country, allowing the Nazis to control traffic between the two zones. France was carved up like a carcass. First pickings went direct to Germany: the coal-rich regions of the north were put under Nazi command, while the coal- and steel-producing areas of Alsace-Lorraine in the east, which were not mentioned in the armistice agreement, were simply annexed by Germany (speaking French was forbidden, Jews were banned from the area and all men were subject to Nazi conscription). Italy – which had opportunistically declared war on France on 10 June – got a small area around Menton, in south-eastern France.




    Hitler wanted to turn France into a colony, and Pétain was his stooge. By agreeing to do the Nazis’ work for them, Pétain and the Vichy regime made a total German occupation unnecessary. Crippling reparations were imposed – the astronomic sum of 20 million Reichsmarks per day – as the Nazis set about bleeding their victim dry. Over the next few years all major production was integrated into the German war machine. The fact that the industrial and raw material-producing areas in the north and the east were under German control made this easier. Thousands of trainloads of food and industrial products travelled to Germany, while the French population was subject to severe rationing. Furthermore, 1.8 million French prisoners of war were held as hostages and potential slave workers in prison camps in the heart of the Nazi machine in Germany. The huge number of prisoners, together with the dead and seriously injured – numbering perhaps up to 300,000 – meant that France was missing about ten per cent of its male population.




    Once the ceasefire came into effect on 25 June, the defeatist clique around Pétain set about creating a new state. The seat of government was moved to the sleepy spa town of Vichy in the Non-Occupied Zone, and on 10 July the National Assembly, convened by Pétain, voted for its own dissolution, by giving all power to the aged Marshal and allowing him to draw up a new constitution. To their credit, a small minority of French parliamentarians refused to go along with the new constitution – eighty deputies, virtually all of them Socialists (the Communist deputies had been banned since September), voted ‘Non’. This protest was simply ignored. Encouraged by Pierre Laval, a newspaper magnate turned far-right politician, Pétain abolished the Third Republic and replaced it by the ‘French State’. The revolutionary motto Liberté, Egalité, Fraternité was scrapped in favour of the crushing conservatism of Travail, Famille, Patrie (‘Work, Family, Fatherland’). The programme of the French State was simple: a ‘national revolution’ designed to root out the Freemasons, Communists and Jews who were deemed to be the root of France’s woes. To accompany this reactionary recipe, Pétain added a quasi-religious flavour, declaring to the French public that he would make ‘a gift of my person’ to the country. This promise helped reinforce Pétain’s undoubted popularity on both sides of the demarcation line.




    Neither the major political parties, nor the leading industrialists and bankers, nor the armed forces showed any inclination to back de Gaulle and continue the fight. Instead, they apparently considered that it was best to be ‘realistic’ and to go along with the Occupation. This not only involved a morally fatal compromise with the new Nazi masters, it also meant accepting the introduction of a paranoid state surveillance apparatus. In both zones, counter-intelligence services were deployed against those who opposed the new regime, informers and police spies were encouraged to betray their neighbours, while the police and the gendarmerie spent a substantial part of their time opening private letters and reporting on changes in public opinion. In August 1940, Arthur Koestler correctly predicted what happened in the months that followed: ‘France will go fascist without noticing it’, he wrote.51




    The Vichy government found itself in an ambiguous position. It was nominally an independent state, in that its laws governed the whole of France, yet it had no decisive control over more than half the country. The presence of Nazi troops in the northern zone meant that the Germans had effective power in these areas, even though Vichy was the civil authority for the whole country. In the south, the formal independence of the government occasionally allowed for some surprising events – sections of the armed forces and police apparatus sometimes took action against Nazi spies in the south, or helped protect Resistance forces. Up until the total occupation of the country (November 1942), there was little the Germans could do to stop this. The word that soon came to symbolize Vichy – ‘collaboration’ – initially meant just that: active cooperation and support, not simple subservience. But as the months went by, Vichy gradually became nothing more than a puppet regime, increasingly populated by enthusiastic Nazi stooges and fanatical anti-Semites.52




    For the next four years the division of the country shaped all aspects of life. For those in the Non-Occupied Zone, there was the illusion of freedom, while for those in the north there was the brutal reality of Occupation. The demarcation line cut through the country, dividing families, making once routine visits to friends and relatives impossible. Nazi bureaucracy, enthusiastically applied by the Vichy administration, soon became a regular part of life. Even in the Non-Occupied Zone, everyday life repeatedly reminded the French that they were a subjugated people, beaten in a lightning war by their powerful neighbours, reduced to the role of observers in the cataclysmic events that were shaking the planet.




    *




    While Pétain, Weygand and the other leaders had been carefully paving the way to defeat, most of the French armed forces had been fighting valiantly. As Saint-Exupéry put it ‘there were clusters of infantrymen still giving up their lives in undefendable farmhouses. There were aviation crews still melting like wax flung into a fire.’53 Around the Maginot Line, where Levy’s and Frenay’s units were based, fierce fighting continued right up until the armistice. According to German reports, their troops were ‘pinned down with heavy losses’ as the French felled trees to block the roads, then used the cover to attack with artillery, snipers and machine guns.54 Overall, German casualty rates actually increased after the fall of Dunkirk, with an average of 750 deaths per day, as against around 550 in the three weeks after the invasion began.55 Even in the air, where the Germans enjoyed undoubted superiority, the Battle of France inflicted significant damage on the Nazi war machine. By mid-June the Luftwaffe had lost around forty per cent of its aircraft. Overall, British and French losses were greater (1,921 Allied aircraft were destroyed, as against 1,469 German planes56 – RAF losses were higher in the Battle of France than in the Battle of Britain),57 but the loss of German pilots and machines proved to be decisive, weakening the Luftwaffe just as it was ordered to turn its attention to Britain.




    Many civilians also showed honour and bravery in the face of the Nazi offensive. After the German troops swept through and around Paris, they came to Chartres, a small town about fifty miles south of the capital, home to a beautiful medieval cathedral. The Prefect of Chartres, Jean Moulin, was one of the republic’s high-flyers – once the youngest prefect in the country, and one-time senior civil servant in the Air Ministry. As German troops swept into his deserted and looted city on 17 June, Moulin remained at his post to organize an orderly transfer of power. But when the Nazis tried to make him sign a false declaration that a series of war crimes in the region had been carried out by French African troops, Moulin refused and was promptly arrested, beaten and abused. Still he refused to sign. Early in the morning of 18 June, crushed by the power of the Nazis, unable to see any way out of the dishonour created by the Germans’ total victory, Moulin tried to commit suicide by slitting his throat with a piece of broken glass. But the suicide bid, like so much in the warm summer of 1940, was a failure. Moulin survived, although for the remaining three years of his life he would wear a scarf around his neck to hide the scar.58




    Despite these signs of bravery and determination, overall the Nazis won an easy victory in France. Paradoxically, this success ultimately proved an advantage for the Allies, reinforcing Hitler’s fantasies of world domination, and making him overconfident in the effectiveness of the blitzkrieg.59 The Führer was so impressed with the outcome of the French campaign that on 31 July, even before the Battle of Britain had begun, he instructed the military to prepare the invasion of the USSR – his fundamental political, economic and ideological enemy. From the outset, this had been his main objective. As Hitler put it in August 1939:




    

      

        

          Everything that I undertake is directed against Russia. If those in the West are too stupid and too blind to understand this, then I shall be forced to come to an understanding with the Russians to beat the West, and then, after its defeat, turn with all my concerted force against the Soviet Union.60


        


      


    




    For many in France, the cause of the defeat was the legacy of the pre-war left-wing Popular Front government, which won the election of spring 1936 and was greeted by a huge general strike, leaving the French right wing obsessed with the threat of Communism.61 On his return to Britain, Spears scornfully reported that Weygand was ‘far more concerned about the danger of revolution in France than about the consequences of capitulation to the Nazis’.62 In early May a leading right-wing parliamentary deputy argued that ‘whereas victory would mean revolution, defeat would save France, for it would, at the cost of a certain loss of territory and prestige, preserve the social order’.63 Taken together with Ybarnegaray’s comment that it would be better for France to be a Nazi province than to unite with Britain, it is clear that many of France’s leaders had little stomach for a fight with fascism. This was obvious to many ordinary French people. In mid-June Victor Serge asked soldiers in Paris why the battle was being lost. Their answer was straightforward:




    

      

        

          . . . we’ve been sold out, betrayed, by Jove! By the officers who legged it sharpish with their bits of skirt, by the high-ups, by the cagoulards [pre-war fascists] who wanted their revenge over the Popular Front.64


        


      


    




    Traditional anti-Communism among army generals – and the leaders of many of the political parties, including the Socialists – had been reinforced in August 1939, when Stalin suddenly announced that he had signed a non-aggression pact with Nazi Germany. Previously, the French Communists had been enthusiastically pro-war and anti-German – a consequence of the Franco-Soviet mutual defence pact, which had been signed in 1935. Now, loyalty to Moscow obliged the Party to oppose the war against their master’s new ally. Understandably, the vast majority of Communist Party members were distraught. Tens of thousands ripped up their Party cards in disgust – the 7,000 PCF members in the Calais region plummeted to 250 within a month.65 The French government banned the Party, arrested its deputies and suspended its local councils. By the end of May 1940 around 5,500 Communist militants had been arrested, under suspicion of forming part of a supposed Nazi ‘Fifth Column’ of saboteurs and agitators.66 This was the context that fuelled Weygand’s excited claim about the Communists having seized power in Paris, and led US Ambassador Bullitt to send a coded telegram to Washington labelled ‘Personal and Secret for the President’:




    

      

        

          Will you please have put on the next Clipper twelve Thompson submachine guns with ammunition, addressed to me for the use of this Embassy. I am fully prepared to pay for them myself. There is every reason to expect that if the French Government should be forced to leave Paris, its place would be taken by a communist mob.67


        


      


    




    The machine guns duly arrived. The Communist mob did not.




    In truth, the PCF could barely organize itself, never mind a mob. Its influence was severely weakened, its leadership was either in jail, in hiding or in exile, its policies were not understood by any but the most loyal members. Its working-class constituency, still scarred by the experience of 1914–18, had reluctantly gone along with the war and had then been battered, bombed, misled and finally abandoned. Despite the nightmares of Weygand, Bullitt and their like, the workers were in no mood for revolution. Arthur Koestler neatly punctured the fevered imaginings of the right, roving through 150 years of French history to explain why the government had rushed into the arms of defeat:




    

      

        

          Both in 1792 and in 1870 the French ruling caste had betrayed the nation and preferred the Prussians to revolution. In 1940 there was no danger of a revolution; the proletariat was tired and apathetic; while the bourgeoisie had found its symbolic expression in a living mummy. It was an unreal drama of shadows: the ghost of the French ruling class committing suicide, scared by the spectre of revolution.68


        


      


    




    Ultimately, however, the fall of France was not simply a French defeat. It was an Allied defeat. In a matter of weeks the Belgians capitulated, the Dutch government fled to London. Unable to resist their own demons, the French leadership sued for peace, while the British could not convince their allies to fight on. The single factor that enabled all these events to take place was the absence of the USA from the war. Without the power of the American military machine, the Europeans had no chance against the aggressive expansionism of the German ruling class and their fascist leader, driven not only by economic aims but also by the stinging desire to burn away twenty years of humiliation at the hands of the Great Powers following defeat in the First World War. The French and the British desperately pleaded with Roosevelt to go beyond his private pledges of support and his piecemeal public deliveries of weapons, but to no avail. It took a direct attack on the USA eighteen months later for it to enter the war.




    *




    As France was crushed under the Nazi heel, two speeches were made within hours of each other in London. In the afternoon of 18 June Churchill rose to his feet in the House of Commons. History could have made what he said next appear ridiculous, foolhardy and full of bravado. Instead, because of the way events turned out, it seems to have been invested with immense foresight. With his customary growling rhetoric, Churchill outlined the ‘disastrous military events’ that had taken place in the previous fortnight, simultaneously apportioning blame and arguing that the reckoning would have to be drawn up by future historians. After surveying the state of Britain’s armed forces, Churchill concluded with words that have become famous, but which at the time were more an expression of his personal will than the conviction of the country:




    

      

        

          What General Weygand called the Battle of France is over. I expect that the Battle of Britain is about to begin. Upon this battle depends the survival of Christian civilization. Upon it depends our own British life, and the long continuity of our institutions and our Empire. The whole fury and might of the enemy must very soon be turned on us. Hitler knows that he will have to break us in this Island or lose the war. If we can stand up to him, all Europe may be free and the life of the world may move forward into broad, sunlit uplands. But if we fail, then the whole world, including the United States, including all that we have known and cared for, will sink into the abyss of a new Dark Age made more sinister, and perhaps more protracted, by the lights of perverted science. Let us therefore brace ourselves to our duties, and so bear ourselves that, if the British Empire and its Commonwealth last for a thousand years, men will still say: ‘This was their finest hour.’69


        


      


    




    Shortly after Churchill sat down in the Commons, General Charles de Gaulle made his way to Broadcasting House and was taken down into studio B2. The day before, he had left France without any clear idea of what he was going to do. De Gaulle was the most junior general in the army – only a few weeks earlier he had been a mere colonel. He had no army, no troops, no supporters. He was virtually unknown in France, with little influence and few contacts. Yet on 17 June de Gaulle decided he should broadcast an appeal, directed primarily at French soldiers, sailors and civilians in Britain, calling on them to rally to him and continue the fight. De Gaulle wanted to oversee the reconstitution of the French armed forces, and in particular hoped to win over the powerful French navy, which he naively supposed might come over to the Allied cause. The next day, when he asked for permission to use the BBC to broadcast to France, the War Cabinet, with Chamberlain in the chair (Churchill was absent), turned down the request. They were still not convinced that Pétain would sign the armistice and wanted to leave all their options open. Spears, who had witnessed the slow decomposition of the Reynaud government with a growing mixture of fury and nausea, rushed to see his old friend Churchill and argued that the Cabinet decision had to be reversed. It was.70




    De Gaulle’s short broadcast went out on the BBC French service in the early evening.71 Nobody in London thought to record it. Speaking in his singsong voice, de Gaulle, like Churchill earlier in the day, gave a brief summary of his view of the fall of France, pointing the finger at the inability of the French high command to cope with German tactics. He then reminded his listeners that the outcome of the war would be decided on a planetary scale, that the French Empire had yet to be defeated and that joint naval action with the British could repulse the Germans. Finally, he closed with an appeal which has since gone down in French history:




    

      

        

          I, General de Gaulle, now in London, call upon the French officers and soldiers who are or who may find themselves on British soil, with or without their weapons, I call upon the engineers and the skilled workers in the armaments industry who are or who may find themselves on British soil, to join me.




          Whatever happens, the flame of French resistance must not and shall not die.




          Tomorrow, as today, I shall speak on the radio from London.72


        


      


    




    Although few people heard de Gaulle’s speech, it was widely reproduced in the French press in the days that followed. Agnès Humbert, who had fled from Paris to Limoges, ran through the garden ‘like a lunatic’ to tell a military friend the news. The officer was unimpressed: ‘It’s all a lot of nonsense . . . he’s a crackpot, that de Gaulle, you mark my words,’ he said. But Humbert wrote in her diary: ‘It is thanks to that “crackpot” that this evening I decided not to put an end to everything . . . He has given me hope, and nothing in the world can extinguish that hope now.’73




    But Humbert’s response was unusual. In the main, de Gaulle’s declaration fell on deaf ears. The French population was bitter, depressed, cynical. Calls to arms from a nobody had little purchase on people who no longer trusted their military leaders. One of the few accounts of popular reactions to de Gaulle’s speech comes from Georges Sadoul, who heard the broadcast with a group of his fellow soldiers. Their responses were forthright: ‘Go fight yourself, you bastard. You’ve got your arse in an armchair and you want other people to go on getting themselves killed.’74




    Within a few months that attitude began to evaporate. People realized that they could resist, that they should resist. But de Gaulle’s role in awakening the fightback would be minimal. The Resistance was born in France, not London.




    

       

    




    
2




    A Glimmer of Light




    France was stunned. Pétain enjoyed the numb support of much of the population, simply because he had ended the horror of the war. It took some time for most people to realize the moral, political and economic price that would be paid for such a peace. While France had apparently stepped out of the conflict, the country was split into two. The Vichy regime was unique in the whole of Occupied Europe: it was the only government to agree willingly to the occupation and division of its country. The proud possessor of an Empire had been reduced to the status of a defeated, occupied state. On an international scale the Nazis appeared to be unstoppable: in the middle of July Hitler launched his long-awaited air attack against the British Isles – the Battle of Britain had begun. Thousands of German aircraft leaped into the skies above the Channel, the first step in Hitler’s plan to subdue his last enemy in Europe. It seemed as though the Nazi wave would roll over the whole continent.




    Something like normal life resumed in the Non-Occupied Zone, where Vichy pretended to reign supreme. All over the country, the millions who had taken to the roads during ‘the Exodus’ gradually returned home. But the reality of fuel rationing soon changed the face of France – the Occupation gave the Nazis access to a stock of petrol that was larger than Germany’s annual production, and they diverted a huge proportion of that fuel to their war effort, leaving the French with virtually nothing.75 Private cars vanished, bicycle rickshaws replaced taxis and lorries were commandeered by the army. Paris streets looked like pictures from a weird parallel universe – all deliveries were horse-drawn, road-signs were written in German gothic script, while the twelve bus routes that remained were operated by strange hybrid vehicles: single-decker buses with a huge container on the roof to carry the gas that now powered them.76




    All over the country, modern road transport disappeared. Charles d’Aragon remembered life in Vichy France: ‘The big cities, which yesterday were so close, became distant once more. Villages that were neighbours ceased to be so. The kilometre regained the value it had in the previous century. Distances were measured in paces – of man or horse.’77 Things were not quite so bucolic in the northern Occupied Zone. Paris was covered in German road signs, the buildings were festooned with swastikas and Nazi soldiers crowded on to public transport and into bars, restaurants and cinemas. The capital became a Nazi town. Elsewhere, the Germans poured troops into the western coastal regions, setting up garrisons and taking over French naval and air force infrastructure. It was here, in the towns and villages along the Atlantic coast, that the first signs of friction between the French population and the occupying army appeared.




    Some of the first people to defy the Nazis were women. Six weeks after the armistice was signed, a laundrywoman from Rennes was sentenced to three months in prison ‘for publicly insulting the German army’, while two seamstresses were each sentenced to one week in prison for the same offence. Some of these protests were organized. In Toulouse, twenty-one-year-old Hélène Cazalbou slapped a German officer in the street, while her accomplices threw leaflets, which read ‘You are here and in Paris, but soon we will be in Berlin’.78 Cazalbou was lucky – she got away with a one-year suspended prison sentence. For others, confrontation with Nazi troops meant death. In Bordeaux a Polish Jew named Israel Karp threw himself at a group of German soldiers who were hoisting the Nazi flag in one of the city’s main squares; convicted of ‘acts of violence against members of the German army’, Karp was executed.79




    Nazi ‘justice’ was not only harsh; it was indiscriminate. All over the Atlantic coastal region the Germans laid down dedicated phone lines, creating a Nazi communications web. In July cables in Brittany, near Rennes, Fougères and Angers, were repeatedly cut. In August and September two cables near Nantes were cut twice. Each time, the Germans responded by fining the town they deemed to be ‘responsible’ – for example, following the sabotage of one of the cables near Nantes, the city was fined 2 million francs. For the saboteurs, the punishment was savage: on 19 June – before the armistice – an agricultural worker named Étienne Achavanne cut the telephone lines linking the German command in Rouen with a Luftwaffe airbase. Achavanne was captured and on 7 July was shot by a German firing squad. The official end of the Franco-German war did not make Nazi ‘justice’ any less vicious: later in the summer, Marcel Brossier, a thirty-one-year-old mechanic, was found guilty of cutting telephone cables and was executed at Rennes. A few days earlier, Pierre Roche, a teenager from La Rochelle, was executed for cutting the cable to Royan.




    Roche’s sabotage prompted the Nazi commandant of the region to requisition French civilians to protect the cable by patrolling it through the night. Christian Pineau was one of those assigned this tedious task. Pineau, who had been burning official papers from his Ministry shortly before the Nazis arrived in Paris, had fled with millions of other refugees during ‘the Exodus’ and had finally ended up in the Charente-Maritime, near La Rochelle. Like dozens of local men, he had no choice but to follow the Nazis’ orders and make the best of a bad job:




    

      

        

          Each farmer had to devote on average six hours to the stupid task of wandering up and down next to a wire. In fact, the job was not too unpleasant because the nights were warm; we took provisions to pass the time, emptied bottles of wine, sang our hearts out or played cards . . . By the time the guard was changed, some of us were completely drunk.80


        


      


    




    This kind of mute rejection of the Occupation was typical of the early weeks following the military debacle. In August a fifty-one-year-old socialist civil servant and journalist, Jean Texcier, gave voice to this sentiment, in the form of ‘33 Conseils à l’occupé’ (‘33 Hints to the Occupied’), a brief text composed of thirty-three short paragraphs, which he published anonymously – and illegally – in Paris.81 This gently ironic pamphlet outlined how the population should passively resist the Nazis because, as Texcier put it, ‘THEY ARE NOT TOURISTS. They are conquerors.’ Texcier’s proposals were hardly radical – polite aloofness if a German soldier tried to strike up a conversation, pretending not to understand German, refusing to attend public concerts given by German troops, and so on – but he struck a chord when he suggested that the time would come for a settling of accounts: ‘On the outside, pretend you do not care; on the inside, stoke up your anger. It will serve you well.’




    Texcier’s low-key document had an immediate impact. As well as the original printed version, the text was re-copied by hand or by typewriter, and was slipped into letter boxes and left lying on Métro seats. Agnès Humbert was one of the many who came across Texcier’s pamphlet. She had returned to Paris at the beginning of August, after fleeing to Limoges. On 18 August she wrote with undisguised joy in her diary:




    

      

        

          Will the people who produced the 33 Conseils à l’occupé (‘33 Hints to the Occupied’) ever know what they have done for us, and probably for thousands of others? A glimmer of light in the darkness . . . Now we know for certain that we are not alone. There are other people who think like us, who are suffering, and organizing the struggle.82


        


      


    




    For most people, the ‘struggle’ consisted simply of listening to the BBC. Every evening, thirty minutes of news and sketches were broadcast in French, including a five-minute slot for de Gaulle’s ‘Free French’. This daily dose of propaganda helped make de Gaulle’s name synonymous with opposition to Vichy. A new word entered the language to describe hostility to the Occupation and the division of the country: ‘Gaullism’. There was no other public figure who adopted such a clear stance, and the French began to look to the exiled General as the figurehead of opposition to the Nazis.




    The wit and quality of the entertainment on the BBC, plus its slightly puckish humour, endeared it to a huge part of the French population. A joke that went the rounds in autumn 1940 shows the popularity of the BBC, and the subversive way in which it was viewed:




    

      

        

          – Do you know what happened recently? At 9.20 p.m. a Jew killed a German soldier, cut him open and ate his heart.




          – Impossible. For three reasons. A German has no heart. A Jew eats no pork. And at 9.20 p.m. everyone is listening to the BBC.83


        


      


    




    Along with comical songs and long-running sketches, there were pastiches of commercial jingles, each of which had a clear message. Probably the most famous was directed against the BBC’s main rival, the Nazi-controlled Radio Paris.84 To the catchy tune of ‘La Cucuracha’, a voice would softly sing ‘Radio Paris ment, Radio Paris ment, Radio Paris est allemand’ (‘Radio Paris tells lies, Radio Paris tells lies, Radio Paris is German’).




    The BBC programmes made no secret of their highly partisan attitude. The overall title – Les Français parlent aux Français (‘The French speak to the French’) – neatly implied that neither Radio Paris nor Radio Vichy truly represented the voice of the French people. And every evening the programme would open with a reminder of how long the Occupation and division of France had lasted. On 22 September – the day the Battle of Britain was won – the opening declaration was: ‘This is the ninetieth day of resistance by the French people against oppression.’ This sombre statement was updated every day until the end of the war.




    Listening to the BBC was neither simple nor safe. The Nazis beamed out powerful jamming signals, and listening became an offence punishable by six months in prison.85 Paris and Vichy adopted such extreme measures because they were alarmed at the success of the BBC’s programmes. Although there were around 5 million radio sets in France, plenty of households – especially in the south – did not have access to one. In many parts of the country listening to the BBC became a social activity – over a dozen people regularly gathered around a radio in an apartment in Montpellier, most of the inhabitants of a small village near Clermont-Ferrand would assemble to listen together, while a bar owner in Marseilles would listen in the back room – with the sound turned up so loud that all the customers could hear.86




    The widespread enthusiasm for the BBC was all the more surprising, given the wave of Anglophobia that swept the country in the summer. On 3 July the Royal Navy bombarded the French fleet, at anchor in the North African port of Mers-el-Kebir, to keep it out of German hands. For ten hellish minutes, artillery shells rained down on the unsuspecting French vessels. Then it was over. The battleship Bretagne had capsized, and 1,297 French sailors had been killed – more than the number of German sailors the British had killed since the outbreak of the war. Sinking an immobile, unprepared target was hardly the Royal Navy’s finest hour, and it was exploited by Vichy, who argued that it revealed the true nature of ‘perfidious Albion’.




    For the British, the attack was the dreadful result of Vichy’s refusal to put the fleet – the most powerful in the Mediterranean – out of the reach of the Nazis by sailing the ships to British ports or to the West Indies, or by scuttling them.87 In keeping with widespread French revulsion, de Gaulle called the attack a ‘deplorable and detestable’ occurrence, but he bravely justified it: ‘There cannot be the slightest doubt,’ he said on the BBC, ‘that, on principle and of necessity, the enemy would have used them against Britain or against our own Empire. I therefore have no hesitation in saying that they are better destroyed.’88 Tragic and deplorable Mers-el-Kebir may have been, but there was a war going on, and Vichy and its supporters had placed themselves firmly on the side of the Nazis.89




    On 21 October, after the Nazis’ failure to win the Battle of Britain, and as the London Blitz began, Churchill broadcast in the BBC’s evening slot, speaking French with a thick English accent. In a slow, grandfatherly tone, he encouraged the French to keep faith with the British, held out the prospect of American intervention and made one of his typically bold statements:




    

      

        

          Here in London, which Herr Hitler says he will reduce to ashes, and which his aeroplanes are now bombarding, our people are bearing up unflinchingly. Our air force has more than held its own. We are waiting for the long-promised invasion. So are the fishes.90


        


      


    




    Churchill’s broadcast made a huge impact. A teacher of English in a Versailles lycée instructed his pupils to take down as much as they could make out through the interference, and the following day the speech was reconstructed, in its entirety, in the classroom. In Marseilles a typist took down the speech in shorthand, then typed it up and circulated it around her office for those who had missed it. On a more personal level, the response of Simone Martin-Chauffier’s family, huddled around the radio in Paris, was typical. They laughed at Churchill’s joke about the fishes, and young Claudie said: ‘It was marvellous, wasn’t it, Mummy? And he spoke French! I love the English accent.’91




    At around the same time as Churchill made his speech, Jean Texcier was overjoyed to hear the BBC broadcast extracts from his ‘Hints to the Occupied’, a copy of which had made its way across the Channel. One of the key bits of Texcier’s advice – that people should stoke up their anger, rather than express it immediately – had been echoed by Churchill. Much to Simone Martin-Chauffier’s irritation, Churchill had suggested that those in the Occupied Zone should wait for a lead from the Free Zone – where conditions were easier – before they took action. But within a month Churchill and Texcier would learn that young Parisians were not prepared either to wait for Vichy or to simply contain their anger.




    *




    Four months after fighting ceased on French soil, the reality of the Occupation began to sink in. The war was turning into a long-drawn-out conflict, and the Nazis were not going to be leaving soon. Worse, they were sucking the country dry. No sooner had the portraits of Hitler been hung on office walls than the Nazi bureaucracy set about meticulously cataloguing French economic and military resources – in both Zones – in order to pillage them. For example, they found 363,000 tons of non-ferrous metals; within seven months, over half was shipped to Germany. Ten thousand of France’s most advanced machine tools were dispatched to help the Nazi war effort – ‘No available machines that are necessary to Germany must remain in France’ went the order. Production in France was increasingly focused on German military needs. Any commercial order to a French company that related to supplies for the German armed forces had priority over all other orders. And the Nazis were good customers – in the first three months of the Occupation, they placed over 12 billion francs’ worth of orders, forging strong ties with French industry.92




    As a result of this reorientation of the French economy, and the effects of the sea war, rationing was imposed at the end of September. From the outset, the nominal amounts available for each person per week were low – 100 grammes of butter, 50 grammes of cheese and 2.5 kilogrammes of bread.93 As the war continued, these amounts were gradually reduced – within three months the bread ration had been cut by fifteen per cent. Coffee soon disappeared completely, to be replaced by a vile brown concoction made from chicory and called ‘national coffee’; on the other hand, Coca-Cola was still available in Parisian bars.94




    Having a ration ticket was one thing, finding a shop with food was another. At the beginning of 1941 teacher Jean Guéhenno noted, ‘Life in Paris is very difficult. We have ration tickets, but we can’t buy anything with them. The shops are empty. At home, we have survived the last two weeks thanks to the gifts of friends,’95 while twenty-year-old Liliane Jameson complained in her diary: ‘It’s virtually impossible to find butter, cheese or meat. Don’t even mention fish. There are no fruit or vegetables.’96 A week later Jameson was indulging in a food fantasy: ‘Oh, to be able to eat an enormous plate of scrambled eggs with loads of butter, a pork chop and rind with lentils, and a chocolate mousse with bananas,’ she wailed.97 More seriously, the cumulative effects of malnutrition over the war years were devastating – mortality rates in the cities shot up, by twenty-four per cent in Paris, and fifty-seven per cent in Marseilles; children grew slowly, and puberty was delayed.98 People took it in good heart, though: ‘Let England win, we’ll eat later,’ wrote one correspondent to the BBC.99




    By the beginning of November the politics of Pétain had a name, which the ageing Marshal proudly pronounced when he shook Hitler’s hand at a widely publicized meeting at Montoire, about eighty miles south-west of Paris, on 24 October. Designed to seal the agreement between the two men, the meeting helped seal the Marshal’s fate in history. ‘It is in the spirit of honour, and to maintain the unity of France,’ proclaimed Pétain, ‘. . . that I enter today upon the path of collaboration.’ Collaboration. A new, insidious and shameful meaning had been given to the word. France began to divide into those who collaborated with the Nazis and those who would not. The country’s future was being forged around two words: the one Pétain used – collaboration – and another, which was being spoken more and more often: resistance.




    For many people on both sides of the demarcation line, the handshake at Montoire brought home the reality of Vichy’s role in the Occupation and division of France. Many of those who had nurtured the hope that Pétain was simply biding his time, preparing to turn the tables on the Nazis, began to admit what had been obvious to the most clear-sighted. Pétain was Hitler’s willing ally. With Pétain now openly siding with the Nazis, and all the political parties either hopelessly split or compromised by their support for him (or, in the case of the Communists, their support for the Stalin–Hitler pact), the implication was plain: if anything was to be done, then ordinary people were going to have to do it on their own.
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